Heritage Trends and Benchmarking Report

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta

An evaluation of sustainability, operational models, and best practices for heritage management at Dr. Woods' House Museum.



Prepared by:



Date: November 17, 2024

1. Executive Summary

This **Heritage Trends and Benchmarking Report** evaluates the performance of **Dr. Woods' House Museum (DWHM)** in Leduc, Alberta, benchmarked against similar heritage sites across Alberta and beyond. The study emphasizes sustainability, operational efficiency, and community engagement, providing a strategic foundation for informed decision-making by the **City of Leduc**.

Key findings include:

- **Economic Sustainability**: Opportunities exist to diversify revenue streams to enhance financial resilience.
- Heritage Preservation: Pursuing Provincial Historic Resource (PHR) designation could unlock additional funding for conservation efforts.
- **Community Engagement**: Strengthening local partnerships can expand programming and visitor reach.
- Accessibility and Usability: Enhancing physical accessibility and leveraging outdoor spaces can broaden community use.

This report also highlights key trends in heritage site management and offers a roadmap for ensuring **DWHM** remains a vibrant cultural asset for future generations.

Table of Contents

1.	Exec	UTIVE SUMMARY	.2
2.	INTRO	DDUCTION	.4
2.	.1	Objectives of the Report	. 4
2.	.2	Methodology	. 4
2.	.3 Key	r Findings	. 4
3.	Benc	CHMARKING FRAMEWORK	.5
3.	.1	Application in Report	. 6
3.	.2	Preliminary Benchmarking of Dr. Woods' House Museum	. 8
3.	.3	Observations	. 8
3.	.4	Summary	. 8
4.	Сом	PARATIVE ANALYSIS OF HERITAGE SITES	.9
4.	.1	Economic Sustainability	. 9
4.	.2	Heritage Preservation and Adaptive Reuse	13
4.	.3	Socio-Cultural Engagement and Volunteer Models	18
4.	.4.	Building Usability and Operational Models	23
4.	.5.	Regulatory and Compliance Considerations	26
4.	.6	Summary of Comparative Insights	30
5.	Key T	RENDS AND BEST PRACTICES	31
5.	.1	Adaptive Reuse as a Core Strategy	31
5.	.2	Diversified Revenue Models	31
5.	.3	Accessibility and Inclusivity	32
5.	.4	Community Engagement and Volunteerism	32
5.	.5	Strategic Partnerships	32
5.	.6	Summary	33
6.	SUMM	MATION OF THE HERITAGE TRENDS AND BENCHMARKING REPORT	33
6.	.1	Summary of Key Findings	33
6.	.3	Summary	33
7. CITATIONS		rions	34
8.	Appe	NDIX A: BENCHMARKING DATA FOR DR. WOODS' HOUSE MUSEUM AND COMPARABLE HERITAGE SITES	35
8.	.1	Scoring Rubric	35
8.	.2	Dataset	36
8.	.3	Narrative Analysis	36

2. Introduction

Heritage sites are vital cultural, educational, and economic assets, preserving historical narratives while fostering a sense of community identity. However, maintaining their relevance and functionality amidst a rapidly evolving environment necessitates innovative management strategies. This report examines **Dr. Woods' House Museum (DWHM)** in Leduc, Alberta, benchmarking its performance against comparable heritage sites to identify actionable opportunities for enhancing its sustainability and community impact over the long term.

2.1 Objectives of the Report

- **Evaluate Current Performance**: Assess **DWHM's** operations, programming, and physical infrastructure, identifying strengths and areas for improvement.
- **Benchmark Comparable Sites**: To identify best practices, compare DWHM's practices against those of other Alberta and Canadian heritage sites, such as Rutherford House and Stephansson House.
- **Identify Key Trends**: Highlight broader trends in heritage management, including adaptive reuse, revenue diversification, and community engagement.
- **Provide a Framework for Decision-Making**: Offer actionable insights to guide the **City of Leduc** in prioritizing investments and programming initiatives.

2.2 Methodology

The research underpinning this report synthesizes data from multiple sources, including:

- **Site Visit Observations:** A thorough assessment of DWHM's current operations, physical structure, and visitor engagement practices.
- **Survey Data:** Insights derived from the Central Alberta Regional Museum Network (CARMN) survey, capturing operational and financial practices across Alberta's comparable heritage sites.
- **Case Studies:** Comparative analyses of heritage sites—including Rutherford House, Stephansson House, and Bison Lodge—to identify successful management strategies.
- Academic and Industry Literature: Relevant studies and frameworks, including those by Aigwi et al. (2020) and Brand (1995), provided theoretical foundations for adaptive reuse and benchmarking best practices.

2.3 Key Findings

2.3.1 Economic Sustainability

DWHM relies on stable municipal funding from the City of Leduc, supplemented by grants such as STEP and SCP. However, the museum lacks diversified revenue streams, which makes it vulnerable to budget constraints. Preliminary recommendations include:

- Expanding rental opportunities for events or workshops.
- Partnering with local businesses and organizations to sponsor programming.
- Developing new revenue-generating initiatives, such as guided tours, seasonal events, or gift shop sales.

2.3.2 Heritage Preservation

The museum's strong commitment to historical authenticity aligns with best practices in heritage management. To bolster conservation efforts, preliminary recommendations include:

- Pursue **Provincial Historic Resource (PHR)** designation, which provides access to specialized funding and grants.
- Implement a preventive maintenance plan to ensure the long-term integrity of historic structures and artifacts.

2.3.3 Community Engagement

Community programming has been effective but remains limited in scope. To strengthen engagement, preliminary recommendations include:

- Expand partnerships with schools and cultural organizations to increase educational outreach.
- Host thematic events that reflect local history and traditions.
- Develop marketing strategies to target broader demographics, including younger audiences.

2.3.4 Accessibility and Usability

Limited accessibility and constrained space reduce the museum's potential as a fully inclusive community resource. Preliminary recommendations include:

- Reconsider displays to accommodate more physical movement through space, reduce the number of historical objects in the space, and explore improvements such as ramps so entrances meet modern accessibility standards.
- Utilizing outdoor spaces for programming, such as pop-up exhibits or community gatherings.
- Explore feasibility studies for expansion to accommodate larger audiences and enhanced exhibits.

3. Benchmarking Framework

The benchmarking framework (Table 1) assesses **DWHM's** performance across five critical parameters:

- 1. **Economic Sustainability**: Evaluates the museum's reliance on public funding and its potential to diversify revenue streams through rentals, partnerships, and programming.
- 2. **Heritage Preservation**: Focuses on maintaining historical authenticity while accommodating modern functionality and usability.
- 3. **Socio-Cultural Engagement**: Assesses community involvement through programming, partnerships, and outreach efforts.
- 4. **Building Usability**: Examines the adaptability and accessibility of the museum's physical spaces for a diverse range of audiences.
- 5. **Regulatory Compliance**: Reviews adherence to safety, accessibility, and heritage conservation standards.

3.1 Application in Report

•

This framework provides a structured method for evaluating **DWHM** compared to similar heritage sites across Alberta and Canada. Using data from site visits, the **CARMN** survey, and relevant case studies, the report identifies opportunities to align **DWHM's** operations with best practices in heritage management.

Aspect	Purpose	Key Criteria	Data Sources
Economic Sustainability	Evaluates adaptive reuse's impact on financial resilience.	 Property and land value increase (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, pp. 510-513). Revenue generation opportunities for tourism, rentals and events (Elshaer et al. 2022, p. 10) Job creation generated by adaptive reuse (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, p. 513). Cost efficiency and savings in renovation and operation (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, p. 510). 	 Financial records from Dr. Woods' House. Revenue models from Rutherford House, Bison Lodge. Funding strategies from CARMN Museums (survey data). Seagram Lofts in Waterloo and Merritton Cotton Mill in St. Catharines as contributors to increased property values and tax revenues and job creation following adaptive reuse (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, pp. 510- 513).
Built Heritage Preservation	Assesses efforts to maintain architectural and historical integrity.	 Sense of place supports the community's sense of identity (Vafaie, Remøy & Gruis 2023, p. 8). Aesthetic contribution of historical architecture to the surrounding environment. Architectural integrity and maintenance of historical elements during adaptation (Askar, Bragança & Gervásio 2021, p. 8). 	 On-site observations at Dr. Woods' House. Adaptive reuse literature (Askar, Bragança & Gervásio 2021). PHR designation insights from Provincial Historic Sites. Survey data on heritage preservation practices from CARMN members.
Socio- Cultural Aspects	Measures community engagement and cultural significance.	 Cultural identity and community engagement fostered by local cultural ties and personal investment (Doyle & Kelliher 2023, p. 7). Social Amenity (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, p. 511). Public interest in heritage (Vafaie, Remøy & Gruis 2023, pp. 4-6) 	 Feedback from the community and other consultations (including survey data from CARMN). Engagement strategies at Rutherford and Stephansson Houses and CARMN Museums (Doyle & Kelliher 2023). Community involvement approaches from Bison Lodge. Case Study of Seagram Lofts and Distillery District, highlighting adaptive reuse as a catalyst for community engagement and local economic activity (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, p. 511).
Building Usability	Evaluates the adaptability and accessibility of museum spaces.	 Spatial flexibility and usability to accommodate diverse functions and uses (Askar, Bragança & Gervásio 2021, p. 13). Availability of handicap access and proximity to public transit affect accessibility rating. Resilience of materials and the structure's design for durability and long-term use (Elshaer et al. 2022, p. 6). 	 Accessibility and structure findings from on-site visits and reports from Historic Sites (Province of Alberta). Survey data on space utilization and accessibility strategies from CARMN members. Space utilization and adaptability examples at other sites. Adaptive reuse best practices for usability (Askar, Bragança & Gervásio 2021).
Regulatory Aspects	Assesses alignment with safety, accessibility, and preservation standards.	 Alignment with Building Code, safety standards for accessibility, fire safety, etc. Structural resilience to natural risks (e.g., ice damming, snow weight on roof). Compliance with heritage preservation requirements (PHR/MHR) and historic site regulations (Aigwi et al. 2020) 	 Regulatory guidelines provided by Historic Sites (Aigwi et al. 2020). Dr. Woods' House compliance challenges. Comparative compliance practices from other heritage sites (survey data from CARMN).

3.2 Preliminary Benchmarking of Dr. Woods' House Museum

Preliminary findings (Figure 1) indicate that while DWHM excels in heritage preservation, gaps exist in revenue diversification, community engagement, and accessibility. By addressing these areas, DWHM can enhance its sustainability and relevance.



Figure 1: Comparison of CARMN Average Site Performance Against Leduc Benchmark

Source: Developed for this report from Aigwi et al. (2020)

3.3 Observations

✓ Strengths:

- Strong historical preservation efforts.
- Dedicated municipal funding provides financial stability.
- Engaging in community-focused programming, though limited in scope.

× Challenges:

- Limited earned income streams create vulnerabilities.
- Accessibility upgrades are necessary to meet inclusivity standards.
- Programming and partnerships require expansion to attract broader audiences.

3.4 Summary

The benchmarking framework highlights areas of strength and identifies actionable opportunities for improvement. These findings set the stage for deeper comparative analyses in the following section.

4. Comparative Analysis of Heritage Sites

This section evaluates DWHM's performance against comparable heritage sites, focusing on five key parameters outlined in the benchmarking framework: economic sustainability, heritage preservation, socio-cultural engagement, building usability, and regulatory compliance.

4.1 Economic Sustainability

Economic sustainability is a foundational aspect of adaptive reuse for heritage sites, ensuring longterm viability through effective financial management and resource diversification (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, pp. 510-513). A robust revenue model enables heritage sites to balance the costs of maintenance, programming, and preservation while reducing vulnerabilities associated with dependence on single funding sources (Elshaer et al. 2022, p. 10). This section evaluates economic sustainability strategies across Alberta heritage sites, including Dr. Woods' House Museum, through benchmarking data from the Central Alberta Regional Museum Network (CARMN) survey, academic literature, and case studies.

4.1.1 Revenue Models

A resilient revenue model enables heritage sites to balance public support with earned income from rentals, events, and partnerships, thereby increasing financial independence and adaptability (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, pp. 510-513). This section evaluates revenue sources at Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites, drawing on survey data, academic literature, and case studies.

Survey-Based Observations on Revenue Models

The CARMN survey data identifies key trends in revenue models among Alberta heritage sites:

- **Public Funding as a Core Revenue Stream:** Most sites rely heavily on municipal or provincial grants, often supplemented by admission fees or programming income.
- Limited Diversification of Earned Income: Few sites actively explore supplemental revenue streams, such as event rentals or partnerships with local businesses.
- **Potential for Growth:** Sites with diversified revenue models demonstrate opportunities for financial resilience, particularly through social enterprise initiatives or tourism-driven revenue streams.

Case Studies: Revenue Models

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: Dr. Woods' House primarily relies on public funding from the City of Leduc, with supplemental support from staffing grants (e.g., STEP, SCP). Earned income is limited to small-scale events and programming fees, creating vulnerabilities due to its dependence on public funding. Insights from the CARMN survey suggest opportunities for enhancing financial resilience by exploring rental opportunities and partnerships to diversify revenue streams.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House operates under a mixed revenue model supported by Alberta Infrastructure and Alberta Arts, Culture and Status of Women. Earned income from visitor admissions, rentals, and events allows the site to focus on programming and

community engagement. This diversified approach—pairing public funding with supplementary revenue—offers a potential model for Dr. Woods' House to enhance stability and adaptability (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Stephansson House relies on provincial funding, supplemented by visitor donations and admission fees. While structural limitations constrain rental potential, recent programming initiatives have increased community engagement and revenue modestly. This model reflects common trends among smaller Alberta sites that combine direct public funding with supplemental, community-driven revenue (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: Bison Lodge employs a social enterprise model, generating revenue through event rentals and special occasions under the management of the Northern Alberta Pioneers and Descendents Association (NAPDA). Despite its financial independence from public funding, the site faces challenges in infrastructure upgrades and accessibility due to its Municipal Historic Resource designation. This highlights the limitations of revenue diversification under strict regulatory frameworks.

Seagram Lofts, Waterloo, Ontario: Adaptive reuse of Seagram Lofts transformed this industrial site into a mixed-use development, generating income through residential and commercial leases, event hosting, and tourism. The project exemplifies high revenue diversification, showcasing the potential for adaptive reuse to drive financial sustainability and local economic benefits (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006).

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: The Distillery District integrates arts, retail, and event spaces to create a highly diversified revenue model. Income from retail leases, cultural programming, and tourism reinforces the site's economic resilience. This large-scale adaptive reuse project highlights how heritage sites can combine preservation with commercial opportunities to sustain operations and drive economic growth (City of Toronto 2016).

4.1.2 Funding Mechanisms

To ensure consistent support and financial sustainability, effective funding mechanisms are critical for heritage sites. By leveraging grants, municipal funding, and partnerships with community organizations or businesses, sites can balance operational costs while pursuing diverse programming and maintenance efforts. The CARMN survey data reveals that many Alberta heritage sites heavily rely on public funding, often supplemented by small-scale income sources. However, the benchmarking analysis highlights innovative funding strategies demonstrating the potential for diversification.

Survey-Based Observations on Revenue Models

The CARMN survey identified several approaches to funding among Alberta heritage sites:

- **Grants as Core Support:** Most sites depend on municipal or provincial grants for operational and maintenance costs.
- **Community Partnerships:** Collaborations with local businesses and community organizations provide supplementary revenue and programming support for a few sites.

- **Self-Generated Revenue:** Some sites have adopted self-reliance strategies, using event rentals and corporate sponsorships to sustain operations.
- **Challenges in Diversification:** Many sites had difficulty accessing diverse funding sources, underscoring a shared need to explore innovative financial models.

Case Studies: Funding Mechanisms

Dr. Woods' House Museum: The museum receives core funding from the City of Leduc, supplemented by staffing grants such as STEP and SCP. However, its reliance on public funding and limited earned income from small events and programming highlights a need for diversified funding streams.

Canmore Museum and Geoscience Centre, Canmore, Alberta: The Canmore Museum operates under a multi-stream funding model, receiving core financial support from municipal grants and supplementary revenue from admissions and partnerships with local businesses and community organizations. This approach ensures reliable base funding while providing flexibility for programming and operational costs (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Oakville Galleries at Gairloch Gardens, Oakville, Ontario: Oakville Galleries demonstrates how diversified funding mechanisms can enhance financial stability. The site combines annual municipal support with federal and provincial Arts Council funding, supplemented by membership programs, corporate sponsorships, individual donations, and venue rentals. This multi-layered approach not only supports operational needs but also ensures resilience during funding fluctuation (Oakville Galleries 2024).

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Bison Lodge is a social enterprise under the Northern Alberta Pioneers and Descendants Association (NAPDA). Its funding comes exclusively from selfgenerated revenue, including event rentals and a loan from the Social Enterprise Fund. While this model eliminates reliance on public funding, it requires significant marketing and event management expertise. This approach highlights a potential pathway for Dr. Woods' House to explore sustainable revenue generation while maintaining financial independence. (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Provincial Historic Resource (PHR) Designation: PHR designation provides sites with access to specific grants aimed at heritage preservation. Insights from Historic Sites (Province of Alberta) suggest that pursuing this designation could offer Dr. Woods' House an additional funding avenue, particularly for conservation and compliance-related expenses.

4.1.3 Cost Management

Cost management practices are essential for heritage sites, particularly maintenance and staffing, to ensure that available funds can be effectively directed towards programming and community engagement. Given many heritage sites' resource constraints, efficient fund allocation is critical to sustaining operations. This section reviews cost-saving strategies from similar sites, drawing from CARMN survey data and academic literature to highlight approaches.

Survey-Based Cost Management Practices in Central Alberta

The CARMN survey reveals several cost management trends about Alberta heritage sites:

- Volunteer Engagement: Many sites, including Stephansson House and Millet & District Museum, rely on community volunteers for routine maintenance and visitor services. This not only reduces labour costs but also strengthens community connections.
- **Partnerships for Shared Resources**: Some Alberta sites reported partnerships with local municipalities or community organizations to share resources for maintenance, event staffing, or supplies. This collaborative approach enables sites to access additional resources without incurring full costs.
- Seasonal Cost Adjustments: Smaller sites noted adjusting staffing and operational costs based on seasonality, especially if visitor numbers fluctuate significantly. This approach allows sites to scale back on expenses during off-peak periods, conserving resources.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House benefits from a cost management structure where Alberta Infrastructure oversees major maintenance needs. This arrangement significantly reduces operational costs for the site's management, allowing them to redirect a greater portion of their budget to programming, visitor services, and community outreach (van Vliet, E. 2024). This model, supported by provincial infrastructure, highlights the benefits of partnerships that absorb some maintenance costs.

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Like Rutherford House, Stephansson House leverages provincial support for structural maintenance, which minimizes the financial burden on its management. Additionally, Stephansson House engages local community volunteers to assist with operational tasks, effectively reducing staffing costs (van Vliet, E. 2024). This approach reflects a broader trend among Alberta heritage sites to rely on volunteer engagement as a cost-saving measure.

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: Survey data indicates that Bison Lodge benefits from full-time staff, including an Executive Director who oversees and often implements basic maintenance tasks. Larger projects are contracted out to specialists when and as needed but are frequently deferred due to the dilution of the reserve fund to maintain staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. This arrangement allows the Bison Lodge to self-determine its operation without limitations from municipal or provincial grant funding. Still, it relies on self-generated revenue from weddings and other events to sustain itself. The Bison Lodge's use of volunteers through the Northern Alberta Pioneers and Descendents Association (NAPDA) has been limited since the operation of the Bison Lodge facility began employing full-time, professional staff.

Seagram Lofts, Waterloo, Ontario: Although primarily a mixed-use development, the adaptive reuse of Seagram Lofts emphasizes the importance of strategic cost management in heritage preservation. According to Shipley, Utz and Parsons (2006), the project achieved cost efficiencies by incorporating durable materials in restoration, reducing long-term maintenance expenses (pp. 510-513).

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: The Distillery District case study highlights how heritage sites can minimize operational costs by leveraging partnerships with private entities. In this model,

business partnerships help cover maintenance costs while enabling the site to focus on programming and visitor services (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, p. 511).

Cost management practices for heritage sites benefit significantly from strategic approaches highlighted in academic literature. Modular and phased maintenance, as suggested by Askar, Bragança and Gervásio (2021, pp. 15-17), allows sites to address preservation needs incrementally, aligning with budget constraints. Preventive maintenance, as emphasized Brand (1995), can reduce long-term costs by avoiding expensive emergency interventions. Structured volunteer programs, while cost-effective, require initial investment in training and coordination to sustain their impact (Aigwi et al. 2020). Additionally, adopting modern technologies, such as energy-efficient systems, can optimize operational costs while preserving building integrity (Elshaer et al. 2022, pp. 10-12). Collaborative cost-sharing partnerships with local businesses or organizations, as outlined by Vafaie, Remøy and Gruis (2023, pp. 4-6), also present an effective model for offsetting maintenance expenses and fostering community engagement. These strategies complement the practical insights from Alberta's heritage sites, highlighting opportunities to balance financial efficiency with preservation goals.

4.1.4 Economic Sustainability Summary

Economic sustainability is essential for the longevity and functionality of heritage sites, requiring effective revenue models, diverse funding mechanisms, and strategic cost management. Survey data from the Central Alberta Regional Museum Network (CARMN) highlights the reliance of Alberta heritage sites on public funding, with limited diversification into earned income streams like event rentals or partnerships. Dr. Woods' House Museum exemplifies this trend, relying heavily on municipal support while facing opportunities to expand revenue streams through partnerships and social enterprise initiatives.

Effective funding mechanisms, such as multi-stream models employed by sites like the Canmore Museum and Oakville Galleries, demonstrate the potential for enhanced financial stability through a mix of public funding, grants, and corporate or community partnerships. Provincial Historic Resource (PHR) designation offers additional funding opportunities and introduces regulatory constraints. Cost management is critical, as seen through practices such as volunteer engagement, seasonal staffing adjustments, and shared resource partnerships. Academic literature emphasizes preventive maintenance and modular approaches as cost-saving strategies, while Alberta sites demonstrate how collaborative partnerships and modern technologies can balance operational costs with preservation goals. This comprehensive approach to economic sustainability ensures heritage sites remain financially viable while preserving their historical and cultural value.

4.2 Heritage Preservation and Adaptive Reuse

Heritage preservation and adaptive reuse are essential for maintaining heritage sites' cultural, historical, and architectural significance while ensuring their functionality and relevance within contemporary communities. Adaptive reuse allows heritage sites to retain their historical value while integrating new uses that meet modern needs, supporting preservation and sustainability goals. However, successful adaptive reuse requires careful consideration of preservation

standards, accessibility improvements, and regulatory impacts associated with heritage designations.

This section examines the various factors involved in preserving and repurposing heritage buildings, focusing on Dr. Woods' House Museum and similar sites. By analyzing preservation methods, accessibility upgrades, and the effects of Provincial Historic Resource (PHR) and Municipal Historic Resource (MHR) designations, this section aims to provide insights into the challenges and opportunities of adaptive reuse for heritage sites in Alberta.

4.2.1 Preservation Approaches

Preservation approaches in heritage sites focus on maintaining architectural and historical integrity while adapting buildings for contemporary use. Adaptive reuse projects must carefully balance preservation with functional adaptations, ensuring heritage elements remain intact and recognizable while meeting current accessibility and usability needs. This section examines preservation strategies employed by Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites, drawing from Alberta and national case studies.

Survey-Based Preservation Approaches in Alberta

The CARMN survey data reveals several trends in preservation approaches among Alberta heritage sites:

- **Minimal Structural Alterations**: Many Alberta sites prioritize maintaining original structural features with minimal modifications, especially smaller-scale sites. This approach is seen at Stephansson House and Bison Lodge, where preservation efforts focus on maintaining the original layout and materials, relying on interpretive elements to enhance the visitor experience.
- Selective Modern Adaptations: Larger heritage sites, such as Rutherford House, are more likely to incorporate selective modern adaptations, including lighting, climate control, and visitor amenities while preserving key architectural features. This trend illustrates how larger sites with more resources can balance preservation with improved visitor comfort and accessibility.
- **Creative Use of Existing Spaces**: For sites like Bison Lodge, where regulatory designations limit structural changes, site managers have found ways to adapt existing spaces for modern use without compromising historical elements. By creatively repurposing certain areas for events and community activities, these sites can meet contemporary needs while preserving their architectural integrity.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House demonstrates a model of heritage preservation supported by provincial maintenance and conservation practices. Alberta Infrastructure oversees significant preservation tasks, ensuring the historical architecture and original materials are maintained to high standards. Operational adjustments, such as adapted lighting and climate control systems, have enhanced visitor comfort without compromising the building's historical authenticity. Survey insights suggest that this collaborative approach between site managers and provincial agencies enables Rutherford House to maintain its architectural

features effectively while ensuring the site remains functional for public tours and events (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Stephansson House provides an example of preservation with minimal structural alterations. Due to its smaller scale and structural limitations, Stephansson House cannot incorporate modern conveniences like rental space or extensive utilities. Preservation efforts focus on maintaining the building's original materials and interior layouts, with subtle adaptations to improve visitor experience, such as updated signage and interpretive displays. As a result, Stephansson House remains a strong example of preservation that prioritizes historical integrity, aligning with the broader trend among Alberta's smaller heritage sites to limit modern interventions while enhancing interpretive elements (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: According to the CARMN survey, Bison Lodge, designated as a Municipal Historic Resource (MHR), emphasizes conservation with limited adaptive reuse. The lodge's historical structure has remained essentially unchanged, primarily due to the regulatory requirements of its MHR designation, which restricts significant alterations. However, Bison Lodge has integrated modern visitor services, such as a small event area, by creatively utilizing existing spaces rather than altering the building's original layout. This approach allows Bison Lodge to engage with contemporary uses while maintaining its architectural heritage, highlighting the regulatory influence of heritage designations on preservation strategies.

Seagram Lofts, Waterloo, Ontario: The adaptive reuse of Seagram Lofts transformed a former industrial site into a mixed-use development, combining residential, commercial, and cultural spaces while preserving key architectural elements. This case study illustrates strategic material selection and design integration to ensure modern modifications complement the building's historical elements. By retaining original architectural details, such as brick facades and structural beams, Seagram Lofts successfully preserves its industrial heritage while adapting for contemporary use, showcasing a model for integrating preservation with substantial functional repurposing (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006)

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: The Distillery District presents an example of heritage preservation that embraces adaptive reuse on a larger scale. The Distillery District has retained its original architectural character while meeting modern commercial and community needs by repurposing historic industrial buildings for arts, retail, and event spaces. Key preservation efforts include restoring building exteriors and repurposing interior spaces with minimal structural changes, allowing the site to support a variety of uses while preserving its historical identity. This approach demonstrates how heritage sites can enhance their economic and community relevance through adaptive reuse without compromising their architectural authenticity (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006).

4.2.2 Accessibility Improvements

Accessibility improvements are essential to making heritage sites inclusive and welcoming to a diverse audience, yet they present unique challenges for adaptive reuse projects. Upgrading accessibility in historic buildings often requires balancing structural integrity and aesthetic preservation with modern inclusivity standards. This section examines approaches to accessibility

observed at Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable sites, highlighting successful strategies and common obstacles.

Survey-Based Accessibility Approaches in Alberta

The CARMN survey data highlights several accessibility strategies used by Alberta heritage sites:

- **Selective Modifications:** Many Alberta heritage sites, including Stephansson House and Bison Lodge, have implemented selective modifications, such as handrails or modified pathways, to improve accessibility without significant structural changes. This approach allows sites to meet accessibility standards while preserving their historical architecture.
- Alternative Programming: Sites facing limitations in physical accessibility, such as those with restrictive building layouts or Municipal Historic Resource designations, have developed alternative programming to reach diverse audiences. For example, virtual tours and accessible off-site events allow these sites to engage the community without extensive alterations to the building.
- **Grant-Funded Accessibility Enhancements:** Some heritage sites reported seeking grant funding specifically for accessibility improvements. This funding approach has allowed sites to implement necessary modifications, such as ramps or accessible restrooms, without diverting from general operating budgets.

Case Studies: Accessibility Approaches

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: Observations during an on-site visit indicate limited accessibility, with no visible ramps or accessible entrances for mobility-impaired visitors. Further, the high volume of artifact-type material throughout the house limits accessibility. As a Municipal Historic Resource, the building's historic structure poses additional challenges in modifying entrances and pathways to accommodate accessibility requirements without detracting from its historical features.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House is an example of implementing modest accessibility improvements in a historic setting. Limited structural alterations, such as installing unobtrusive railings and ensuring level entry points, have been integrated without significantly altering the historical character (van Vliet, E. 2024). This approach demonstrates how heritage sites can enhance visitor accessibility while maintaining architectural integrity. The site's management also offers alternative experiences, such as virtual tours, to accommodate those with mobility limitations.

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: As a smaller and structurally restrictive site, Stephansson House faces challenges in implementing extensive accessibility modifications. The building's historic architecture limits the feasibility of adding ramps or other significant modifications. Instead, the site emphasizes accessibility through its interpretive programming, offering educational content that can be enjoyed remotely or in the accessible sections of the property (van Vliet, E. 2024). This highlights how small-scale sites with structural constraints can still enhance accessibility through inclusive programming. Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: The District demonstrates how larger adaptive reuse projects incorporate accessibility as a core design element. Renovations included installing accessible walkways, ramps, and restrooms throughout the district, ensuring comprehensive accessibility without compromising the industrial aesthetic of the original structures. This case study illustrates the potential for creative design solutions that accommodate accessibility in larger heritage sites (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, p. 511).

4.2.3 Impact of Heritage Designations

Heritage designations, such as Provincial Historic Resource (PHR) and Municipal Historic Resource (MHR) statuses, play a critical role in the adaptive reuse and preservation of historic sites. These designations provide access to funding and technical resources for conservation but can also impose restrictions that limit potential modifications. This section examines the benefits and limitations of heritage designations for Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable sites, using specific case studies to highlight the impact of MHR and PHR statuses.

Survey-Based Observations on Designation Impact

The CARMN survey data provides further insights into the impacts of PHR and MHR designations across Alberta:

- Enhanced Funding and Technical Support for PHR Sites: PHR sites, such as Stephansson House, benefit from direct access to provincial resources, allowing them to maintain high standards of preservation and structural upkeep. This model relieves pressure on operational budgets, as seen with Rutherford House, but requires adherence to strict regulatory standards that can limit adaptive reuse options.
- **Operational Flexibility for MHR Sites:** While MHR sites have limited access to provincial preservation grants, they often retain greater flexibility in managing and adapting their spaces. This flexibility allows sites like Bison Lodge to develop unique revenue models and community partnerships, providing financial sustainability independent of provincial funding.
- Autonomy vs. Preservation Support: Interview insights suggest that MHR sites often prioritize local autonomy over provincial oversight. As an MHR, Dr. Woods' House enjoys freedom in designing programs and partnerships but faces funding limitations that a PHR designation could alleviate. However, pursuing PHR status would impose stricter preservation obligations that could impact the museum's community-oriented approach.

Case Studies: Impact of Heritage Designation

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: Currently designated as an MHR, Dr. Woods' House benefits from recognition and protection under municipal guidelines but lacks access to some provincial funding streams available to PHR sites. During interviews, Rebecca Goodenough of Historic Places Stewardship noted that a PHR designation could provide the museum with additional funding for preservation but would also introduce stricter regulations on modifications. As an MHR, Dr. Woods' House enjoys more flexibility in adapting spaces for community programming but faces challenges in securing funding for substantial preservation projects. Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: As a PHR site, Rutherford House benefits from Alberta Infrastructure's oversight of major maintenance and conservation. This support ensures that preservation standards are maintained without overburdening the site's operational budget, allowing management to focus on programming and visitor engagement. This case highlights the advantages of provincial support in maintaining high preservation standards while reducing financial strain (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Also designated as a PHR, Stephansson House leverages its status to access specific grants and technical support for preservation. However, this designation limits structural alterations, impacting the site's adaptability for programming and accessibility upgrades. Stephansson House focuses on interpretive programming rather than physical adaptations (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: As an MHR, Bison Lodge faces challenges in funding and accessibility due to limitations on structural modifications. This designation restricts the site's ability to undertake substantial renovations that could expand accessibility, reflecting a common trade-off for MHR sites. However, the lodge's operational independence has allowed it to develop a social enterprise model, generating revenue through events and partnerships rather than relying on provincial support.

Seagram Lofts, Waterloo, Ontario: Although not directly tied to PHR or MHR status, the adaptive reuse of Seagram Lofts as a mixed-use development illustrates the financial benefits of heritage designations. Leveraging heritage tax incentives and grants, Seagram Lofts has preserved significant architectural elements while adapting the space for residential and commercial use (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, pp. 510-513).

4.2.5 Heritage Preservation and Adaptive Reuse Summary

Heritage preservation and adaptive reuse are essential for sustaining heritage sites' cultural and historical integrity while ensuring they meet contemporary needs. This analysis highlights how Alberta heritage sites balance preservation with modern functionality, often through minimal structural alterations, selective modern adaptations, and creative reuse of existing spaces. Accessibility improvements present unique challenges, with sites employing strategies like selective modifications, alternative programming, and grant-funded enhancements to improve inclusivity without compromising historical authenticity. Heritage designations, such as PHR and MHR statuses, offer funding and technical support for preservation but can restrict structural modifications, influencing each site's approach to adaptive reuse.

4.3 Socio-Cultural Engagement and Volunteer Models

Socio-cultural engagement and volunteer models ensure heritage sites remain vibrant, relevant, and deeply connected to their communities. By fostering strong volunteer networks, developing impactful community programs, and incorporating cultural input, heritage sites can build lasting relationships with local populations while expanding their reach and inclusivity. These strategies enhance visitor experiences and contribute to the long-term sustainability of heritage sites by embedding them within the cultural fabric of the communities they serve (Aigwi et al. 2020).

This section explores the role of socio-cultural engagement at Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites. Drawing on Aigwi et al. (2020), the framework emphasizes the socio-cultural aspects of adaptive reuse to preserve community identity and foster engagement. It examines volunteer models, community programs and events, and the importance of cultural relevance and community input. The analysis offers insights into how heritage sites can strengthen their connections with local and regional audiences.

4.3.1 Volunteer Engagement

Volunteer engagement is a critical component of the socio-cultural framework for heritage sites, supporting operational sustainability and strengthening ties between the site and its community. Volunteers often play a crucial role in day-to-day operations, including visitor services, maintenance, and event programming, while providing a cost-effective way to build capacity and expand outreach efforts (Aigwi et al. 2020, p. 6)This section examines volunteer engagement strategies at Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites, drawing insights from the Central Alberta Regional Museum Network (CARMN) survey, academic literature, and case studies.

Survey-Based Volunteer Engagement Practices

The CARMN survey data provides further insights into the impacts of PHR and MHR designations across Alberta:

- **Day-to-day Operations:** Many sites, such as Stephansson House, rely on volunteers for routine operations, including visitor tours, event staffing, and minor maintenance. This engagement reduces operational costs while fostering community ownership of the site.
- **Specialized Roles:** Some sites reported engaging skilled volunteers for tasks requiring expertise, such as archival work or historical interpretation. This approach ensures that critical heritage functions are supported without significant financial strain.
- **Challenges in Recruitment:** Smaller sites, including several from the survey dataset, noted difficulties in recruiting and retaining volunteers, particularly for roles requiring specialized skills or a significant time commitment. This challenge underscores the need for structured volunteer programs and clear incentives for participation.

Case Studies: Volunteer Engagement

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: Volunteer engagement at Dr. Woods' House has been limited in recent years, with most operational tasks handled by staff. However, interviews with local stakeholders indicate a willingness within the community to support the museum through volunteer initiatives if a structured program is established. Developing a formal volunteer engagement plan, including training and recognition programs, could enhance the museum's operational capacity and community integration.

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Stephansson House demonstrates the benefits of a structured volunteer program. Volunteers actively participate in interpretive programming and seasonal events, providing cost-effective staffing solutions and fostering a deeper connection between the site and the community (van Vliet, E. 2024). This model illustrates how smaller sites can leverage volunteer networks to maintain operations despite budgetary constraints.

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: The survey data indicates that while Bison Lodge primarily employs professional staff, volunteers occasionally engage in event-specific roles and community outreach programs. This limited engagement highlights a model where volunteers supplement paid staff rather than forming the core workforce, balancing professional operations with communitydriven support.

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: While primarily a commercial adaptive reuse project, it integrates community volunteerism into its cultural programming, such as art exhibitions and public events (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, p. 11). This approach highlights the potential for volunteers to support community-facing initiatives while enhancing the site's cultural relevance.

4.3.2 Community Programs and Events

Community programs and events are vital for fostering connections between heritage sites and the communities they serve. They provide opportunities for engagement, education, and cultural exchange, positioning heritage sites as active contributors to local identity and development. Programs and events also serve as essential revenue streams and pathways to increase visitor engagement, as highlighted by (Aigwi et al. 2020, p. 7), who emphasize the role of adaptive reuse in creating spaces that foster community interaction. This section examines how Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites utilize community programs and events to enhance their socio-cultural impact.

Survey-Based Observations on Programs and Events

The CARMN survey data reveals common trends in community programming and event strategies across Alberta heritage sites:

- Educational Programming: Many sites offer educational programs tailored to schools and community groups. These programs often align with Alberta's history curriculum, providing interactive learning experiences for youth. Survey responses indicate that sites with robust educational offerings, such as Stephansson House, report higher community engagement levels.
- Seasonal and Cultural Events: Heritage sites frequently host seasonal events, such as holiday-themed activities, historical reenactments, and cultural celebrations. These events attract diverse audiences and foster local traditions and cultural continuity.
- **Partnerships with Community Organizations:** Several sites collaborated with local community groups and businesses to co-host events, leveraging shared resources to enhance programming. These partnerships allow smaller sites with limited budgets to broaden their offerings and attract larger audiences.

Case Studies: Community Programs and Events

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: Dr. Woods' House currently offers limited community programming, primarily focusing on small-scale events such as seasonal tours and historical displays. However, its central location and historical significance present opportunities for expanded community engagement through events like heritage fairs, workshops, and collaborative programming with local organizations.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House demonstrates the potential of community-focused programming to enhance visitor engagement. Seasonal events like Victorian Christmas celebrations attract diverse audiences while reinforcing the site's historical themes. These events and partnerships for educational programming provide a model for Dr. Woods' House to expand its offerings while maintaining a connection to its heritage (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Stephansson House focuses on interpretive programs highlighting its historical and cultural relevance. This includes guided tours, poetry readings inspired by Stephan G. Stephansson's legacy, and family-friendly events. These targeted programs provide a strong example of how smaller sites can leverage unique historical narratives to engage their communities (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Oakville Galleries at Gairloch Gardens, Oakville, Ontario: Oakville Galleries is an art institution situated within a historic lakeside estate. The site leverages its unique location and heritage setting to host diverse programs and events, including art exhibitions, workshops, and outdoor community activities in the gardens. Its partnerships with local organizations, such as the Oakville Public Library and ArtHouse Halton, and educational outreach programs, including weekend art classes and summer camps, have solidified its role as a cultural hub. These initiatives demonstrate how heritage sites can effectively integrate community programming to foster engagement and inclusivity (Oakville Galleries 2024, pp. 21-25).

The research underscores the critical role of community involvement in adaptive reuse projects. Doyle and Kelliher (2023, p. 7) emphasize that heritage projects with strong community ties and local participation foster a greater sense of place and identity, enhancing cultural relevance. Similarly, Vafaie, Remøy and Gruis (2023, pp. 4-6) highlight how adaptive reuse enables heritage sites to balance preservation with contemporary cultural dynamics, ensuring they remain relevant to evolving community needs. These insights align with the observed trends across Alberta's heritage sites, demonstrating how community engagement strategies can drive cultural sustainability while reinforcing the historical significance of heritage spaces.

4.3.3 Cultural Relevance and Community Input

Cultural relevance and community input are fundamental to the success of heritage sites, ensuring that their programming, operations, and narratives align with the identities and values of the communities they serve. Adaptive reuse projects must preserve historical authenticity, reflect contemporary cultural dynamics, and engage diverse stakeholders (Vafaie, Remøy & Gruis 2023, pp. 4-6). Community input is critical for shaping these efforts and fostering a sense of ownership and collaboration. This section examines strategies for maintaining cultural relevance and incorporating community input, drawing from survey data, academic literature, and case studies.

Survey-Based Observations on Cultural Relevance

The CARMN survey data highlights common strategies Alberta heritage sites use to ensure cultural relevance and incorporate community perspectives:

• **Community Advisory Committees:** Many sites engage advisory committees composed of local stakeholders, including historians, educators, and community leaders, to guide programming and operations.

- **Inclusive Storytelling:** Sites frequently emphasize inclusive storytelling, ensuring exhibits and programming reflect their communities' diverse histories and cultures.
- **Open Consultation Processes:** Several respondents highlighted the importance of community consultation, ranging from informal surveys to structured focus groups, to integrate local perspectives into decision-making processes.

Case Studies: Cultural Relevance and Community Input

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: While formal mechanisms for community input are limited, interviews with local stakeholders indicate strong support for preserving the museum's historical narrative while incorporating contemporary programming that reflects Leduc's evolving community.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House actively integrates community input through regular public feedback sessions and partnerships with local schools and organizations. These efforts ensure that programming reflects Edmonton's cultural diversity while remaining rooted in the site's historical themes (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Oakville Galleries at Gairloch Gardens, Oakville, Ontario: Oakville Galleries exemplifies how community input can shape cultural programming. Through initiatives such as artist-led workshops and collaborative projects with community organizations, the gallery ensures its offerings remain inclusive and relevant to the local population. Its engagement strategies, such as hosting town halls and conducting visitor surveys, create a feedback loop that continually informs its programming and operations (Oakville Galleries 2024, pp. 21-25).

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: It combines heritage preservation with cultural relevance by emphasizing community events, arts programming, and storytelling that highlight its industrial past while engaging contemporary audiences. Regular input from tenants, artists, and community members informs its dynamic programming (City of Toronto 2016, pp. 18-20; Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, p. 511).

The research underscores the critical role of community involvement in adaptive reuse projects. Doyle and Kelliher (2023, p. 7) emphasize that heritage projects with strong community ties and local participation foster a greater sense of place and identity, enhancing cultural relevance. Similarly, Vafaie, Remøy and Gruis (2023, pp. 4-6) highlight how adaptive reuse enables heritage sites to balance preservation with contemporary cultural dynamics, ensuring they remain relevant to evolving community needs. These insights align with the observed trends across Alberta's heritage sites and the Distillery District's approach, demonstrating how community engagement strategies can drive cultural sustainability while reinforcing the historical significance of heritage spaces.

4.3.4 Cultural Relevance and Community Input

Socio-cultural engagement and volunteer models are essential for maintaining the vitality and relevance of heritage sites, fostering strong connections with their communities while supporting operational sustainability. Alberta heritage sites demonstrate various strategies, including leveraging volunteers for day-to-day operations, developing inclusive and impactful community programs, and ensuring cultural relevance through public input and storytelling. These approaches

highlight the importance of integrating local perspectives and balancing historical authenticity with contemporary community needs. Insights from academic literature and case studies, including those of Dr. Woods' House Museum, Rutherford House, and Oakville Galleries, underscore the value of adaptive reuse for fostering community ties and cultural engagement. By embedding heritage sites within the cultural fabric of their communities, these strategies ensure their sustainability and long-term relevance while preserving their historical significance.

4.4. Building Usability and Operational Models

Building usability and operational models are critical to ensuring heritage sites' sustainability and functionality. Operational models define how heritage sites are managed, funded, and operated while building usability focuses on the physical adaptability of the site to support diverse functions and audiences. These elements are interconnected, as the success of an operational model often depends on the site's ability to meet the needs of visitors, staff, and community stakeholders through thoughtful design and spatial flexibility (Aigwi et al. 2020).

This section examines the relationship between operational models and building usability at Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites. Drawing on survey data, academic research, and case studies, the analysis highlights how different operational approaches can impact usability, financial sustainability, and visitor experience. The discussion includes an exploration of operational frameworks and an evaluation of building flexibility and use, providing insights into how heritage sites balance historical preservation with contemporary demands.

4.4.1 Operational Models

Operational models play a fundamental role in determining the sustainability and functionality of heritage sites. These models encompass the management, funding, and programming structures that drive a site's day-to-day and long-term success. The selection of an operational model often depends on factors such as funding availability, community involvement, and the physical characteristics of the site itself (Aigwi et al. 2020). This section examines operational models observed at Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites, drawing on insights from survey data, academic literature, and case studies.

Survey-Based Observations on Operational Models

The CARMN survey data highlights a variety of operational models employed by Alberta heritage sites:

- **Municipally Operated Sites:** Most sites operate under municipal oversight, including those with Municipal Historic Resource (MHR) designations. These models often include public funding and staffing support, but municipal priorities may constrain programming and revenue generation flexibility.
- **Provincially Operated Sites:** Rutherford House and Stephansson House are provincially managed, benefiting from stable funding for maintenance and operations. However, these sites often face strict regulatory requirements and limited opportunities for adaptive reuse.
- Volunteer-Driven Models: Smaller heritage sites frequently rely on volunteer-led operations, which reduce staffing costs but may face challenges sustaining volunteer engagement over time.

• **Social Enterprise Models:** Some sites, like Bison Lodge, employ social enterprise models. These models generate revenue through events and rentals while maintaining financial independence from public funding sources. These models provide operational flexibility but require strong business acumen and effective marketing strategies.

Case Studies: Operational Models

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: Dr. Woods' House operates under municipal management as a Municipal Historic Resource (MHR), receiving public funding and staffing support from the City of Leduc. This model provides stability but limits flexibility in programming and revenue diversification. Insights from survey data suggest that exploring hybrid models, such as municipal oversight paired with volunteer-driven initiatives or social enterprise components, could enhance operational capacity while fostering community involvement.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House demonstrates the strengths of a provincially managed operational model. Alberta Infrastructure handles major maintenance, while Alberta Arts, Culture and Status of Women support programming and conservation efforts. This structure allows operational revenue to focus on enhancing visitor experiences and educational initiatives (van Vliet, E. 2024). The model's stability and funding availability make it a compelling example of public oversight paired with a targeted operational focus.

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Like Rutherford House, Stephansson House operates under provincial management, ensuring stable funding for maintenance and operations. However, its smaller scale and structural limitations constrain opportunities for revenue generation. Recent programming initiatives have attempted to address these limitations by emphasizing community engagement and interpretive activities (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: Survey data highlights Bison Lodge as an example of a social enterprise model. The lodge generates revenue through weddings, corporate events, and partnerships with community organizations without reliance on public funding. While this model provides operational independence, sustaining operations requires significant marketing and event management efforts.

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: The district demonstrates how a large-scale, commercially driven operational model can support adaptive reuse. The district generates substantial revenue by integrating retail leases, cultural programming, and tourism activities while maintaining its heritage identity (City of Toronto 2016, pp. 18-20). This model highlights the potential for heritage sites to blend preservation with economic sustainability through diversified operations.

4.4.2 Building Flexibility & Use

Building flexibility is a critical consideration for heritage sites, enabling them to adapt to contemporary needs while preserving their historical significance. The ability to accommodate diverse uses—such as community programming, events, or exhibitions—supports operational sustainability and broadens a site's appeal to various audiences. Successful adaptive reuse requires thoughtful spatial planning that balances preservation with functional adaptability, as highlighted by concepts such as the "Shearing Layers" approach, which emphasizes incremental adaptability, and "Open Building," which advocates for modular and scalable design solutions

(Askar, Bragança & Gervásio 2021, pp. 13-15). This section evaluates building flexibility and use at Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites.

Survey-Based Observations on Building Flexibility

The CARMN survey data reveals a range of approaches to building flexibility and use across Alberta heritage sites:

- **Multifunctional Spaces:** Many heritage sites have adapted spaces for multiple uses, such as hosting events, exhibitions, or educational programs, without compromising their architectural integrity.
- **Structural Limitations:** Smaller sites with restrictive layouts, such as Stephansson House, face challenges in accommodating diverse activities, often requiring creative solutions to maximize space usability.
- **Event-Specific Modifications:** Rutherford House and Bison Lodge integrate reversible modifications, such as temporary furnishings and modular setups, to adapt event spaces while maintaining historical authenticity.

Case Studies: Building Flexibility and Use

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: Observations from the site visit indicate limited flexibility due to the building's structural layout and high volume of artifacts. The narrow corridors and compact rooms restrict the potential for hosting events or exhibitions. However, the outdoor areas surrounding the house offer opportunities for community programming and seasonal events, which could enhance the museum's usability without altering its historical features.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House effectively uses its spaces for diverse functions. The site accommodates small-scale events, such as tea parties and historical reenactments, by integrating modular furniture and adaptable layouts. These practices ensure the preservation of historical elements while allowing for functional versatility (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Stephansson House, Spruce View, Alberta: Due to its small size and historic layout, Stephansson House faces significant limitations in adapting its spaces. Instead of physical modifications, the site emphasizes interpretive programming that uses its existing layout to immerse visitors in its historical narrative. This approach highlights the potential for programmatic flexibility as an alternative to structural changes (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: Survey data indicates that Bison Lodge creatively repurposes its spaces for events and community programming. While the site's Municipal Historic Resource designation limits significant structural alterations, the lodge uses movable partitions, modular setups, and the non-historic lower level to create flexible spaces for weddings, workshops, and other gatherings.

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: The District exemplifies large-scale building flexibility through adaptive reuse. The site integrates open-plan spaces for retail, events, and cultural programming, utilizing its industrial architecture to support diverse activities. This approach demonstrates how

heritage sites can leverage historical layouts to accommodate modern uses without compromising authenticity (Shipley, Utz & Parsons 2006, pp. 510-513).

"Shearing Layers" and "Open Building" provide valuable frameworks for understanding building flexibility in heritage sites. Shearing Layers emphasizes that building components—such as structure, services, and interiors—change at different rates, allowing for gradual adaptations that preserve historical elements (Brand 1995). Similarly, Open Building advocates for modular design that enables spaces to be reconfigured to meet changing needs while maintaining overall structural integrity (Askar, Bragança & Gervásio 2021, pp. 13-15). These principles align with practices observed at Alberta sites, where reversible modifications and creative space planning enhance flexibility.

4.4.3 Building Usability and Operational Models

Building usability and operational models are vital components in the sustainable management of heritage sites. Operational models shape how heritage sites are managed, funded, and programmed, while building usability focuses on spaces' flexibility and adaptability to meet diverse needs. These elements are interdependent, as a site's operational success often hinges on its physical ability to accommodate varied uses, from community programming to special events.

Survey data and case studies reveal diverse operational approaches in Alberta, ranging from municipally and provincially managed sites to volunteer-driven and social enterprise models. Sites like Dr. Woods' House Museum demonstrate the benefits and limitations of municipally managed models, which provide funding stability but limit programming flexibility. Meanwhile, as seen at Bison Lodge, social enterprise models offer operational independence but require significant resourcefulness to sustain revenue generation.

Building usability highlights how heritage sites adapt their physical spaces to contemporary needs without compromising historical integrity. Strategies include multifunctional layouts, event-specific modifications, and creative reuse of spaces to overcome structural limitations. Alberta sites such as Rutherford House and Bison Lodge illustrate how reversible modifications and modular setups can support diverse functions while preserving architectural authenticity. Larger adaptive reuse projects, such as Toronto's Distillery District, demonstrate how open-plan designs and thoughtful planning can maximize usability on a broader scale.

Frameworks like "Shearing Layers" and "Open Building" provide valuable guidance for integrating adaptability and preservation. These approaches emphasize incremental changes and modular design, ensuring heritage sites remain functional and relevant while maintaining cultural and historical significance. Together, operational models and building usability strategies underscore the importance of balancing preservation with contemporary functionality to ensure the long-term sustainability of heritage sites.

4.5. Regulatory and Compliance Considerations

Regulatory and compliance considerations are essential to the successful operation and preservation of heritage sites. Balancing historic preservation with modern safety standards, accessibility requirements, and regulatory frameworks presents a unique set of challenges for adaptive reuse projects. These considerations often require significant collaboration with

municipal, provincial, or federal agencies to navigate the constraints of heritage designations and modern building codes.

This section explores how Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable sites address regulatory and compliance needs, focusing on strategies for maintaining safety and accessibility while preserving historical integrity. The analysis also highlights the role of partnerships in supporting compliance efforts, examining how relationships with government agencies and community organizations can provide essential resources and expertise. Drawing on insights from site observations, survey data, and case studies, this section provides a comprehensive overview of regulatory frameworks and their implications for adaptive reuse in Alberta.

4.5.1 Regulatory Compliance and Safety

Regulatory compliance and safety are vital for ensuring heritage sites are accessible, safe, and operationally sustainable while preserving their historical integrity. Heritage buildings face unique challenges in meeting modern safety standards, such as fire protection and structural resilience, while adhering to strict preservation guidelines. This section examines strategies Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable sites use to address compliance and safety challenges.

Survey-Based Observations on Regulatory Compliance

The CARMN survey data reveals a variety of regulatory challenges and strategies employed by Alberta heritage sites:

- **Fire Safety and Emergency Preparedness:** Many heritage sites have implemented fire safety measures, such as sprinkler systems and updated fire exits while balancing the need to preserve original architectural features. Sites with limited budgets often seek grant funding or partnerships to support compliance upgrades.
- Accessibility Standards: Compliance with accessibility regulations remains a significant challenge for older buildings. Respondents noted that accessibility upgrades, such as ramps and elevators, are often constrained by structural limitations, preservation requirements, and a lack of grant funding.
- **Historical Preservation Constraints:** Sites with Municipal or Provincial Historic Resource (MHR/PHR) designations face stricter compliance requirements, which can limit the scope of modifications to improve safety or functionality.

Case Studies: Regulatory Compliance and Safety

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: Observations from the site visit indicate several compliance challenges, including limited accessibility features, while adherence to fire safety regulations is unknown. As a Municipal Historic Resource (MHR), Dr. Woods' House must adhere to rules restricting significant structural changes, complicating efforts to implement comprehensive compliance upgrades. Addressing these challenges may require targeted grant funding or partnerships to support necessary improvements without compromising the building's heritage value.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House benefits from Alberta Infrastructure's oversight, which ensures compliance with modern safety and accessibility standards. Key

upgrades, such as unobtrusive fire suppression systems and level entrances, have been integrated without detracting from the site's historic character. This model demonstrates the value of provincial support in addressing regulatory challenges efficiently (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: According to survey data, Bison Lodge faces compliance challenges due to its MHR designation, which limits structural modifications for accessibility and safety. The site has addressed some issues by focusing on non-intrusive upgrades, such as emergency lighting and portable fire extinguishers. However, larger projects remain deferred due to budgetary constraints and the limitations of its designation.

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: The District illustrates how large-scale adaptive reuse projects can successfully integrate safety and compliance measures into heritage preservation. The site incorporates modern fire safety systems, accessible walkways, and public safety features while maintaining its industrial aesthetic. This case study highlights the potential for creative design solutions to address regulatory requirements in heritage sites (City of Toronto 2016, pp. 18-20).

Regulatory compliance is a central theme in adaptive reuse literature. Aigwi et al. (2020) emphasize the importance of collaborative approaches to meet safety and preservation requirements, suggesting that partnerships with government agencies and local organizations can provide essential resources and expertise. Additionally, (Askar, Bragança & Gervásio 2021, pp. 15-17) highlight modular design as a potential strategy to integrate modern safety features without compromising historical authenticity. These principles align with observed practices at Alberta sites, where targeted upgrades and strategic collaborations enable heritage buildings to meet compliance standards effectively.

4.5.2 Partnerships and Compliance Support

Partnerships with municipal, provincial, and community organizations are critical for heritage sites to navigate the complexities of regulatory compliance. These collaborations provide access to financial resources, technical expertise, and operational support that can alleviate the challenges of maintaining compliance while preserving historical integrity. This section explores how partnerships contribute to regulatory compliance at Dr. Woods' House Museum and comparable heritage sites, drawing on survey data, site observations, and case studies.

Survey-Based Observations on Partnerships

The CARMN survey data highlights the role of partnerships in supporting compliance efforts among Alberta heritage sites:

- **Municipal Support:** Many sites receive municipal support for maintenance and compliance upgrades, including fire safety measures and accessibility improvements. These partnerships are widespread among Municipal Historic Resource (MHR) sites.
- **Provincial Collaboration:** Sites with Provincial Historic Resource (PHR) designation, such as Rutherford House, benefit from technical expertise and funding from provincial agencies, enabling them to maintain high preservation and safety standards.

• **Community Engagement:** Smaller sites often partner with local organizations and volunteer groups to address compliance challenges. These partnerships help offset costs and provide additional capacity for maintenance and upgrades.

Case Studies: Partnerships for Compliance Support

Dr. Woods' House Museum, Leduc, Alberta: As an MHR, Dr. Woods' House benefits from municipal oversight, which provides essential maintenance and operational funding. However, due to funding constraints, compliance challenges, such as limited accessibility, remain unmet. Partnerships with local organizations or provincial agencies could provide the necessary support for targeted compliance upgrades.

Rutherford House, Edmonton, Alberta: Rutherford House exemplifies the benefits of provincial partnerships for compliance support. Alberta Infrastructure oversees major maintenance and ensures adherence to safety standards, while Alberta Arts, Culture and Status of Women provide conservation expertise. These partnerships allow Rutherford House to focus operational resources on programming and visitor engagement (van Vliet, E. 2024).

Bison Lodge, Edmonton, Alberta: Survey data indicates that Bison Lodge has cultivated partnerships with local community organizations and corporate sponsors to support operational sustainability. While these partnerships primarily focus on event programming, they also contribute indirectly to compliance efforts by generating revenue that can be allocated to safety and maintenance needs. However, the lodge's reliance on self-funding underscores operating limitations without municipal or provincial support.

Distillery District, Toronto, Ontario: The District demonstrates how partnerships with private entities can support large-scale compliance efforts. Collaborations with developers and tenants have enabled the site to integrate accessibility features and modern safety systems while maintaining its heritage aesthetic. This model illustrates the potential for leveraging public-private partnerships to address compliance challenges (City of Toronto 2016, pp. 18-20).

The Confluence Historic Site & Parkland (Fort Calgary), Calgary, Alberta: As a historic site with multiple stakeholders, Fort Calgary demonstrates how partnerships with municipal governments and Indigenous organizations can address compliance needs while respecting the site's historical and cultural significance (Parkland 2023). While less frequently cited in adaptive reuse literature, it represents an Alberta-specific example of collaborative governance.

Research highlights the importance of partnerships in supporting compliance efforts for heritage sites. Aigwi et al. (2020)emphasize the role of collaborative governance models in addressing regulatory challenges, noting that partnerships with government agencies and local stakeholders can enhance access to resources and expertise. Similarly, (Askar, Bragança & Gervásio 2021, pp. 13-15) advocate for modular and phased approaches to compliance upgrades, often made feasible through external funding and technical support.

4.5.3 Regulatory and Compliance Considerations

Regulatory and compliance considerations are integral to the operation and preservation of heritage sites, requiring a balance between historical authenticity and adherence to modern safety, accessibility, and building standards. The unique challenges associated with heritage designations

necessitate innovative approaches to integrating regulatory requirements while maintaining these sites' cultural and architectural integrity.

Survey data from Alberta heritage sites underscores the diversity of regulatory strategies, including fire safety upgrades, accessibility improvements, and adherence to preservation constraints tied to Municipal and Provincial Historic Resource (MHR/PHR) designations. Case studies reveal the importance of tailored compliance strategies, such as non-intrusive upgrades and modular solutions, to address these challenges effectively. Sites like Dr. Woods' House Museum exemplify the difficulties smaller MHR sites face in implementing comprehensive compliance upgrades due to financial and structural constraints, while larger sites like Rutherford House benefit from provincial partnerships that provide funding and technical support.

Partnerships are pivotal in alleviating regulatory burdens, as evidenced by collaborations between heritage sites and municipal or provincial agencies. These partnerships often provide critical resources, including funding for compliance upgrades and technical expertise to navigate regulatory frameworks. Examples such as Fort Calgary and the Distillery District highlight the potential of public-private partnerships and collaborative governance in achieving compliance goals while preserving historical value.

The analysis emphasizes that successful compliance strategies rely on innovative design approaches, targeted funding, and strong partnerships, ensuring heritage sites remain operationally sustainable, historically authentic, and accessible to diverse audiences.

4.6 Summary of Comparative Insights

The comparative analysis of heritage sites highlights the interplay between economic sustainability, socio-cultural engagement, operational models, and regulatory compliance in ensuring the long-term viability of heritage sites. Alberta's heritage sites, including Dr. Woods' House Museum, demonstrate diverse approaches to balancing historical preservation with contemporary demands. From adaptive reuse strategies to community-centred programming and innovative cost management practices, these sites offer valuable insights into navigating the challenges and opportunities of heritage conservation.

Key findings emphasize the importance of diversified revenue models, effective partnerships, and adaptable operational frameworks. Successful case studies illustrate how heritage sites can integrate modern accessibility and safety standards while preserving their cultural and historical significance. The analysis also underscores the critical role of community involvement and stakeholder collaboration in fostering socio-cultural engagement and meeting regulatory requirements. Together, these insights provide a foundation for developing sustainable and resilient strategies tailored to the unique needs of Alberta's heritage sites.

Summary:

- **Economic Sustainability**: Dr. Woods' House relies on municipal funding; opportunities exist to diversify revenue through rentals, partnerships, and programming.
- **Heritage Preservation**: Strong commitment to historical authenticity, with potential benefits from pursuing Provincial Historic Resource designation.

- **Socio-Cultural Engagement**: Effective community programming but room for enhanced partnerships and expanded offerings.
- **Building Usability**: Limited by accessibility issues and compact spaces, outdoor areas could be leveraged for broader use.
- **Regulatory Compliance**: Meets basic standards; targeted upgrades needed for accessibility and safety.

5. Key Trends and Best Practices

This section identifies broader trends in heritage management and highlights best practices from comparable sites, offering actionable insights to enhance DWHM's sustainability and community impact.

5.1 Adaptive Reuse as a Core Strategy

Adaptive reuse is a cornerstone of sustainable heritage management, balancing historic preservation with modern functionality. Successful examples include:

- **The Distillery District, Toronto**: Transformed into a vibrant mixed-use space that integrates retail, cultural venues, and public events without compromising its historic character.
- Seagram Lofts, Waterloo: Demonstrates how mixed-use developments can revitalize underutilized historical buildings, integrating residential, commercial, and cultural functions.

Best Practices for DWHM:

- Repurpose unused spaces for multipurpose use, such as temporary exhibits, workshops, or small-scale events.
- Integrate adaptive reuse principles into future expansion or redevelopment plans to ensure long-term relevance.

5.2 Diversified Revenue Models

Economic sustainability requires diversified income sources. Resilient heritage sites blend public funding with earned revenue streams and partnerships. Examples include:

- **Rutherford House, Edmonton**: Generates revenue from visitor admissions, event rentals, and gift shop sales, supplementing government funding.
- **Bison Lodge, Red Deer**: Leverages community partnerships and themed events to create sustainable income.

Best Practices for DWHM:

- Introduce rental programs for weddings, workshops, and community meetings.
- Develop visitor-focused initiatives such as guided tours, gift shop merchandise, or annual memberships.

5.3 Accessibility and Inclusivity

Accessibility improvements ensure heritage sites are inclusive and welcoming. Innovations in this area include:

- The Confluence Historic Site & Parkland (Fort Calgary), Calgary: Installed ramps, widened walkways, and created virtual tours for audiences with mobility challenges.
- **Stephansson House, Spruce View**: Enhanced accessibility with non-intrusive design elements that maintain historical integrity.

Best Practices for DWHM:

- Prioritize physical upgrades, such as ramps and wider pathways, to meet accessibility standards.
- Incorporate digital tools, such as virtual tours or audio guides, to engage broader audiences.

5.4 Community Engagement and Volunteerism

Strong community engagement fosters a sense of ownership and support for heritage sites. Successful strategies include:

- The Confluence Historic Site & Parkland (Fort Calgary), Calgary: Actively collaborates with local schools and cultural organizations, hosting educational programs and community events.
- **Rutherford House**: Maintains a robust volunteer program that supports operations, programming, and outreach.

Best Practices for DWHM:

- Strengthen ties with local schools and cultural organizations to create new programming opportunities.
- Build a volunteer network to assist with daily operations, special events, and outreach initiatives.

5.5 Strategic Partnerships

Collaborative governance models and partnerships with municipal or provincial agencies provide financial and operational support. Examples include:

- **Bison Lodge**: Partnered with local businesses to create themed events that attract residents and tourists.
- **Rutherford House**: Worked with Alberta Arts, Culture and Status of Women to secure funding and programmatic support.

Best Practices for DWHM:

• Explore partnerships with local businesses, schools, and cultural organizations to share resources and expand programming.

• Collaborate with provincial agencies to secure additional funding and technical expertise.

5.6 Summary

Key trends and best practices emphasize adaptive reuse, diversified revenue streams, accessibility improvements, community engagement, and strategic partnerships as pillars of sustainable heritage management. DWHM can enhance its resilience, inclusivity, and cultural impact by incorporating these practices.

6. Summation of the Heritage Trends and Benchmarking Report

This Heritage Trends and Benchmarking Report provides a comprehensive analysis of Dr. Woods' House Museum (DWHM), identifying areas of strength and opportunities for improvement to enhance its long-term sustainability and community impact.

6.1 Summary of Key Findings

* Economic Sustainability:

While **DWHM** benefits from stable municipal funding, it lacks diversified revenue streams. Opportunities exist to increase financial resilience through rentals, partnerships, and new visitor-focused initiatives.

* Heritage Preservation:

The museum demonstrates efforts to align with best practices. Pursuing **Recognized Museum Status** and/or **Provincial Historic Resource (PHR)** designation could unlock additional funding and support for conservation.

* Community Engagement:

Current programming effectively connects with the local community but remains limited in scope. Expanding partnerships with schools, cultural organizations, and volunteer networks can enhance engagement.

* Accessibility and Usability:

Physical limitations restrict accessibility and usability. Upgrades to pathways, entrances, and outdoor spaces could significantly broaden community use.

***** Regulatory Compliance:

While the museum meets basic standards, targeted upgrades in accessibility and safety are recommended to align with modern regulatory requirements.

6.3 Summary

Dr. Woods' House Museum holds immense potential as a cultural, educational, and community asset for the City of Leduc. By aligning operations with best practices in heritage management, the museum will position itself to secure its relevance, sustainability, and impact for future generations.

7. Citations

Aigwi, IE, Ingham, J, Phipps, R & Filippova, O 2020, 'Identifying Parameters for a Performance-Based Framework: Towards Prioritising Underutilised Historical Buildings for Adaptive Reuse in New Zealand', *The University of Auckland Business School Research Paper Series, Forthcoming, Cities*, vol. 102, p. 102756.

Askar, R, Bragança, L & Gervásio, H 2021, 'Adaptability of buildings: A critical review on the concept evolution', *Applied Sciences*, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 1-32.

Brand, S 1995, *How Buildings Learn: What happens after they're built*, Viking Penguin, New York.

City of Toronto 2016, Distillery District Heritage Conservation Study, viewed 10-Nov-2024,

Doyle, J & Kelliher, F 2023, 'Bringing the past to life: Co-creating tourism experiences in historic house tourist attractions', *Tourism management*, vol. 94, pp. 1-9.

Elshaer, IA, Fayyad, S, Ammar, S, Abdulaziz, TA & Mahmoud, SW 2022, 'Adaptive reuse of heritage houses and hotel conative loyalty: Digital technology as a moderator and memorable tourism and hospitality experience as a mediator', *Sustainability*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 1-13.

Oakville Galleries 2024, Annual Report, viewed 03-Nov-2024.

Parkland, TCHS 2023, City of Calgary partners with Fort Calgary, securing location for future Indian Residential School, viewed 10-Nov-2024.

Shipley, R, Utz, S & Parsons, M 2006, 'Does adaptive reuse pay? A study of the business of building renovation in Ontario, Canada', *International journal of heritage studies*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 505-520.

Vafaie, F, Remøy, H & Gruis, V 2023, 'Adaptive reuse of heritage buildings: A systematic literature review of success factors', *Habitat International*, vol. 142, pp. 1-18.

van Vliet, E. Interviewed by Erin McDonald. 31 October 2024, Edmonton.

8. Appendix A: Benchmarking Data for Dr. Woods' House Museum and Comparable Heritage Sites

8.1 Scoring Rubric

The benchmarking analysis was conducted using data from the Central Alberta Regional Museum Network (CARMN) and supplemented with site-specific observations of Dr. Woods' House Museum (DWHM). The evaluation framework included the five parameters identified in the Aigwi et al. (2020) framework, with scores calculated based on predefined criteria (Table 1).

Parameter	Scoring Criteria	Score Calculation
Economic	Based on diversity of revenue	+1 point for each revenue source
Sustainability	sources and mention of beneficial	mentioned, +1 point if any grant or
	grants	funding program is mentioned
Heritage Preservation	Based on responses related to	+1 point for each preservation method
	heritage preservation efforts and site	mentioned, +1 point if recognized as a
	designation	heritage site
Socio-Cultural Aspects	Based on community engagement	+1 point for each community
	strategies and incorporation of	engagement activity mentioned, +1
	cultural ties or personal stories	point if cultural ties are described
Building Usability	Based on types of space utilization	+1 point for each utilization approach
	and accessibility improvements	mentioned, +1 point if any accessibility
		improvement is described
Regulatory Compliance	Based on compliance with regulatory	+1 point for each regulatory requirement
	requirements and challenges faced	mentioned, +1 point if challenges in
	in meeting heritage standards	heritage preservation are described

Table	1: E	Evaluation	Rubric
100.0		_vataation	1100110

Source: Developed for this report from Aigwi et al. (2020)

8.2 Dataset

The table below summarizes the scores for DWHM and comparable sites across Alberta. The CARMN average is included for comparison purposes.

Site ID	Economic Sustainability	Heritage Preservation	Socio- Cultural Aspects	Building Usability	Regulatory Compliance
S1	5	7	21	17	9
S2	4	6	19	14	7
S3	4	5	16	14	7
S4	6	9	23	21	10
S5	2	3	12	10	5
S6	5	7	20	14	9
S7	7	10	26	23	11
S8	3	3	10	8	3
S9	5	6	21	17	8
S10	5	8	19	17	8
S11	2	4	13	11	5
S12	4	5	16	14	7
S13	5	7	20	14	7
S14	7	9	23	21	10
CARMN AVG	4.57	6.36	18.5	15.36	7.57
DWHM	10	8	23	12	8

Table 2: Dataset including DWHM and comparable sites	
Tuble 2. Dataset metading DWT in Tuna comparable sites	

8.3 Narrative Analysis

The scores are analyzed across the five parameters, with DWHM serving as the benchmark. The analysis highlights strengths, opportunities for improvement, and comparative insights.

1. Economic Sustainability

DWHM Score: 10 | CARMN Average: 4.57

Analysis: DWHM significantly outperforms the CARMN average, reflecting a robust reliance on public funding and modest event-based revenue streams. However, DWHM does not exhibit the extensive diversification seen in adaptive reuse projects like the Distillery District. Opportunities exist to further diversify revenue streams through partnerships, rentals, and innovative programming to reduce dependency on municipal funding.

2. Heritage Preservation

DWHM Score: 8 | CARMN Average: 6.36

Analysis: DWHM's Municipal Historic Resource designation supports its strong heritage preservation efforts. However, sites like Site 7 (10) surpass DWHM by leveraging Provincial Historic Resource (PHR) designations. Pursuing Recognized Museum Status and/or PHR designation could enhance funding opportunities and expand preservation capabilities.

Source: Developed for this report from Survey Data, 2024

3. Socio-Cultural Aspects

DWHM Score: 23 | CARMN Average: 18.5

Analysis: DWHM demonstrates strong community engagement, exceeding the average by 4.5 points. To match higher-scoring sites like Site 7 (26), DWHM could expand cultural initiatives and collaborative opportunities with local organizations.

4. Building Usability

DWHM Score: 12 | CARMN Average: 15.36

Analysis: DWHM scores slightly below average in usability, reflecting challenges in accessibility and space optimization. Addressing these issues through improved mobility access and reconfigured layouts could enhance functionality.

5. Regulatory Compliance

DWHM Score: 8 | CARMN Average: 7.57

Analysis: DWHM exceeds the CARMN average, demonstrating efforts to align with accessibility and safety standards. Partnerships could further support compliance upgrades.

Summary and Recommendations

Dr. Woods' House Museum aligns well with comparable Alberta heritage sites in many areas, but targeted improvements can enhance its functionality and sustainability:

- 1. **Economic Sustainability**: Strengthen revenue diversification through partnerships, rentals, and innovative programming.
- 2. **Heritage Preservation**: To unlock funding and support, Pursue Recognized Museum Status and/or Provincial Historic Resource (PHR) designation.
- 3. Socio-Cultural Engagement: Expand community programming and partnerships.
- 4. Building Usability: Address structural and accessibility challenges to improve functionality.
- 5. **Regulatory Compliance**: Leverage municipal and provincial partnerships to enhance funding and technical expertise.

These insights position Dr. Woods' House Museum as a well-preserved site with strong community engagement and economic potential. Targeted improvements offer the opportunity to enhance its functionality and sustainability further.